

## Survival of children on Antiretroviral Therapy in Swaziland:

## A retrospective cohort study

By

Student: Patrick Shabangu

Student number: 11261995

Submitted in partial fulfilment for the Degree in

In Master of Public Health

School of Health Systems and Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences,

University of Pretoria, South Africa

## **Contact details**

Tel: +26824040896

Fax: +26824040881

patrick@ihm-southernafrica.org

Supervisor: Professor Andy Beke, MB. ChB, FCPHM (SA), FGCP.

Co-supervisor: Samuel Manda, PhD





# Table of Contents

Abbreviations and Acronyms	ii
Abstract	v
Objectives:	vi
Study design:	vi
Results	vi
Conclusions:	vi
Introduction	1
Methods	2
Study design and settings	2
Inclusion/exclusion criteria for study participants	2
Sample size	2
Measurement	3
Data Management procedure	3
Data Analysis	3
Ethical considerations	4
Results	5
Characteristics of participants	5
Clinical treatment outcomes:	5
Survival time descriptive analysis	6
The Cox Proportional Hazard Regression model	. 11
The final Cox –Proportional Hazard Regression model	. 11
Post estimation for the Cox PH Model	. 13
Discussion	. 14
Conclusion and recommendations	. 20
References	. 22
Acknowledgements	. 27



# List of Figures

Figure 1: Box plot on baseline CD4 and follow up CD4 for children initiated on ART by age
Figure 2: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children by early and delayed initiation
Figure 3: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children by age group
Figure 4: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children [0-5) years by baseline CD4 %
Figure 5: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children [5-15) years by baseline CD4 count



# List of Tables

Table 1: Cox regression -Breslow method for ties presenting HRs by predictors for children initiated on ART	-
between 2004 and 2008 in Swaziland	12
Table 2: Test of proportional-hazards assumption as post estimation for Cox PH Model	13



# Abbreviations and Acronyms

AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
APMS	ART Patient Management System
ART	Anti-Retroviral Therapy
CSO	Central Statistics Office
DB	Database
DQ	Data Quality
EMR	Electronic Medical Records
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НТС	HIV Testing and Counselling
HR	Hazard ratio
ICAP	International Centre for AIDS Care and Treatment Programs
KM	Kaplan Meier
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
M&E	Monitoring and Evaluation
МОН	Ministry of Health
РН	Proportional Hazard
PLWHA	People living with HIV and AIDS
РМТСТ	Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission
WHO	World Health Organisation



## Statement of Original Authorship

## **STATEMENT OF DECLARATION:**

I, <u>Patrick L Shabangu, student number: 11261995</u> declare that the mini- dissertation, which I hereby submit for the degree Master of Public Health at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at another university.

Reference number:

University of Pretoria: 45/2014

Student's signature:.....date:....

Supervisor's signature:.....date:....

Name of Journal for proposed submission

The Journal of Pediatrics





## Abstract

## Survival of children on Antiretroviral Therapy in Swaziland: A retrospective study

**Objectives:** To evaluate effectiveness of Anti-Retroviral Therapy (ART) services on clinical outcomes and survival of HIV infected children [0-15 years) in Swaziland.

**Study design:** A retrospective cohort analysis of medical records for 4170 HIV-infected children who were initiated on ART between 2004 and 2008 was conducted. The Signed-ranks test, Kaplan Meier Estimator, and Cox-P H regression model were used to compare clinical outcomes between relevant predictors.

**Results**: The results reveal that clinical outcomes for HIV-infected children on ART were desirable as indicated by significant CD4 gain (from 17 CD4% to 35 CD4%, 14 CD4% to 34 CD4%, and from 194 to 592 CD4 count in mm<sup>3</sup> for children aged [0-2) years, [2-5) years and [5-15) years, respectively, p<=0.001). Early initiated children were dying at a rate estimated to be 67% times lower than children who were delayed ART (p-value<=0.001). Children within the age group of [2-5) years had higher hazard (HR=1.59, 95% CI: 1.33-1.89) of death than children within the age group of [5-15) years.

**Conclusions:** The ART paediatric programme in Swaziland proved to be effective as demonstrated by positive clinical outcomes. Early initiation proved to be effective in increasing survival time for children.

Key words: ART services, HIV infected children, Clinical outcomes, Survival, Swaziland



## Introduction

Approximately, 91% of the estimated 3.4 million HIV infected children live in in Sub-Saharan Africa.<sup>1, 2</sup> and these children have exceptionally high risk of mortality in absence of any intervention. In fact, up to 52% of HIV infected children die before the age of two years in the absence of any intervention. <sup>3</sup> Countries are, therefore, encouraged to scale up early diagnosis to ensure early identification of HIV infected children. However, with accelerated early diagnosis of HIV, early initiation on ART of HIV infected children remains a global challenge. <sup>4</sup>

Swaziland being a country in Sub Saharan Africa where paediatric HIV infection was estimated at 12% in 2014 continues to accelerate efforts aimed at scaling up early infant diagnosis programme and early initiation of HIV infected children on ART. <sup>5</sup> It is thus imperative from a public health perspective, to evaluate if the paediatric HIV and AIDS care, treatment and support services influence survival of children living with HIV. Although several studies have been conducted in Sub-Saharan Africa, Africa, Asia and Europe, publications on the long term effect of paediatric HIV and AIDS care, treatment and support programs on survival of children living with HIV are limited.<sup>13-36</sup> The study results could inform policy development and improvement of paediatric HIV and AIDS care and treatment interventions in Swaziland.

The aim of this study was to evaluate effectiveness of ART services in Swaziland on clinical outcomes and survival of HIV-infected children within the age of [0- 15) years. The specific objectives of the study were (i) to determine clinical outcomes of children on ART using immunological response; (ii) to determine the survival of children who are on ART; (iii) to determine the effect of early ART initiation on survival of children who are within the age group of [0-15) years; and (iv) to determine association between relevant predictors and survival rate of children on ART.



## Methods

#### Study design and settings

A retrospective cohort analysis of medical records for 4170 children (<15 years) who were initiated on ART between 2004 and 2008 was conducted. The de-identified medical records were extracted from the National ART database deployed in clinical setting in 36 health care facilities that are implementing the national paediatric HIV and AIDS care and treatment programme. The health facilities contained clinics, Public Health Units, Health Centres, Regional Hospitals and Referral hospitals. These facilities were further stratified into public, private, NGOs and mission health institutions.

## Inclusion/exclusion criteria for study participants

All HIV infected children who were initiated on ART between 2004 and 2008, were retained, or died or lost to follow up or discontinued from treatment by the end of 2013 were included in the study.

#### Sample size

All HIV infected children (< 15 years), who were started on ART between 2004 and 2008, and were followed up until failure or until they were right censored (lost to follow-up, stopped treatment, dropped out, and end of study) were part of the sampling frame. Included in the study were children with complete medical records in the National Database as of December 31, 2013. Children were stratified into two strata (Early initiated on ARV therapy or were delayed ART). Within the two arms further stratification was done to derive age categories including [0- 2) years, [2-5) years and [5-15) years. ART initiation (Early and Delayed initiation) and age categorization were defined based on WHO categorization as stipulated in the 2010 ART for HIV infected infants and children guidelines. <sup>6</sup>



#### Measurement

The primary outcome measures were CD4 evolution (absolute CD4 count in mm<sup>3</sup> for children who are  $\geq$ 5 years and CD4% for children who are < 5 years); the overall survival rates for children on ART stratified by early initiation on ART (>25% or >750 cd4 count for 2-4 years & >350 for 5-14 years) and delayed initiation (<=25% or <=750 cd4 count for 2-4 years & <=350 for 5-14 years) on ART; and association between the selected baseline predictors and survival of HIV infected children.

#### **Data Management procedure**

Electronic medical records were extracted from the national ART Patient Management Information System (APMIS) using Microsoft SQL stored procedures. Data quality profiling was done to pin-point data defects using Talend Data Quality tool. The identified data defects (incomplete, inaccurate and invalid data values) were cleaned up. The clean data set was exported into an Excel data file that was in turn imported into STATA. In STATA, further mapping and identification of invalid data types was done using the codebook command. Identified data errors, outliers and leverage data values were removed from the data set. Variables were recoded and encoded to generate categorical variables. Some string variables were also encoded to generate new numeric data values. The outcome variable of interest (death) was generated and encoded into a binary (1/0) variable based on the deceased date variable. All the other censoring variables (Lost to follow up, dropped out, active) were also encoded to (0) indicating censoring.

#### **Data Analysis**

Normality of data distribution for continuous variables was checked using a histogram and Shapiro-Francia test. Data was found to be not normally distributed (p<0.001). The plot-box was used to identify outliers. The Wilcoxon matched –pairs signed-ranks test was applied to test for median difference between baseline



CD4 and CD4 follow up. The Binomial probability test was run to test the significance of treatment efficacy rate. The Kaplan Meier and Nelson-Aalen methods were used to estimate survivorship functions stratified by selected independent variables. The log-rank test was used to test the significance of the difference in survival for selected categorical variables. Cox Proportional Hazards regression model was applied to examine association between survival and relevant predictors.

## **Ethical considerations**

The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki and Good Clinical Practice (GCP). <sup>7</sup> The study was conducted in compliance with the protocol (number 45/2014) that was granted ethical clearance by the Faculty of Health Science Research Ethics Committee in the University of Pretoria, and the Scientific and Ethics Committee (SEC) for Ministry of Health in Swaziland. The rights, safety and well-being of participants were highly considered and prevailed over the interests of science and society during the study. The study was conducted by a researcher who is qualified by education, training, and experience to perform the research.



#### Results

## **Characteristics of participants**

A total of 4170 HIV infected children within the age group of [0-15) years were included in this study, of which 50.3% were females and 49.7% were males, respectively. The mean age (5.43 years, SD: 3.98) for female and (5.26 years, SD: 3.66) for male children were not different (p-value=0.867). Of the 4170 children, 20%, 27% and 53% were within the age groups of [0-2) years, [2-5) years, and [5-15) years, respectively. Majority (52%) of the children were initiated on AZT+3TC+NVP regimen.

## **Clinical treatment outcomes:**

One of the objectives of the study was to determine clinical outcomes of children receiving ART services using immunological response (CD4 count for children≥5 years and CD4% for children<5 years) as a primary outcome measure. In an intent to treat analysis of the overall effect of ART on immunological gain, the median length of follow-up was 6 years (IQR: 1-7 years), 7 years ((IQR: 6-8 years), and 6 years ((IQR: 6-8 years) for children within the age of [0-2) years, [2-5) years and [5-15) years, respectively.





Figure 1 presents data on baseline and follow up CD4 (percent and count) stratified by age.



The results presented in the box plot above (Figure 1) show that there was immunological gain among children within the different age groups. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed to test difference between baselines and follow up CD4 among children within all different age groups ([5-15), [2-5) and [5-15)) years and the results were statistically different, as indicated by p-values of 0.001, 0.001, and 0.001, respectively.

## Survival time descriptive analysis

The study also set out to determine survival of children receiving ART who are aged <15 years. The results show that the median survival time for children was 78 months (95% CI: 77-79). Survival time among children [5-15 years) was higher (79 months, 95% CI: 77-79) compared to other age groups. The Kaplan





Meier Estimator and curves were used to estimate survivorship function for children.

Figure 2: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children by early and delayed initiation

Figure 2 presents a comparison of the survivor function curves for children who were early initiated against those who were delayed ART. The curves presented in figure 2 illustrate that survival probability for children who were early initiated on ART was higher over time compared to those who were delayed initiation of ART (p=0.001).





## Figure 3: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children by age group

Figure 3 illustrates a graphical presentation of survival curves stratified by age groups. As presented on the graph all three curves assume a similar exponential decline. Nonetheless, the results show that children within age group [0-2) years had their survival probability declining as soon as they were initiated on ART, and they had low probability of surviving over time compared to other age groups. The log-rank test results confirmed that the survival rate for children within the age group of [0-2) years was lower than the survival rate for the other age groups, and the difference was statistically significant (p-value=0.001).





## Figure 4: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children [0-5) years by baseline CD4 %

Figure 4 is a Kaplan-Meier plot of survivor functions by baseline CD4% (CD4 %< =25 versus CD4 % > 25%) for children within the age of [0-5) years. As present in figure 4, the survival plot show that children who had CD4 % <=25 at baseline had lower probability of surviving over time compared to children who had CD4 % >25 at baseline. The log-rank test was used to test the significance of the difference, and the test results suggest that the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.561).





Figure 5: Kaplan-Meier plot on survival probability for children [5-15) years by baseline CD4 count

Figure 5 presents graphical illustration for survivor functions for children within [5-15) years by baseline CD4 count. The survival curves presented in figure 5 demonstrate that children who had CD4 count within the range of 351 to 500 or more than 500 absolute CD4 count at baseline had higher survival probability compared to children who had <350 CD4 count at baseline. The log-rank test for equality was applied to test the significance of survival difference. The log-rank test results confirm that the survival rate for children who had low CD4 count at baseline had their survival rate compromised compared to children with high CD4 count at baseline, and the difference in survival was statistically significant (p=0.000).



### The Cox Proportional Hazard Regression model

The Backward elimination approach was adopted to build the final Cox Proportional hazard regression model. <sup>8</sup>. All predictor variables were fitted in the initial model. Variables were dropped one at a time, beginning with variables that were not statistically significant using the significance level of 0.10.<sup>9, 10</sup> The model was diagnosed for multi-collinearity of independent variables (IVs) using the **corr, collin & vif** commands in STATA 12. The diagnosis results indicate that some IVs were highly correlated with high Variance Inflation Factor (VIFs >=10.00). All IVs with high VIFs were omitted from the initial model as they were discovered to be having inadequate data and/ or were of different operationalizations of the same identical concept and effect to the model.<sup>11, 12</sup>

The likelihood-ratio (LR) test was performed to inform variables 'exclusion decision. Based on the significance level of 0.10, all non-significant variables were eliminated from the initial full model (model A). The LR test was performed to compare the initial full model and all the nested models (nested in model A to model F). The LR test the p-values were non-significant (p= 0.688 for model nested in A, p= 0.851 for model nested in B, p=0.543 for model nested in C, p= 0.506 for model nested in D, p= 0.165 for model nested in E, p= 0.524 for model nested in F, and p= 0.120 for model nested in G), suggesting that the eliminated variables were not significantly explaining the variability..

#### The final Cox – Proportional Hazard Regression model

The application of the backward elimination approach produced the following final Cox -Proportional Hazards regression model, and influential explanatory variables were retained in the final model.



Prognostic factors	Haz. Ratio	P> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]		
TB status						
TB positive	3.808	0.000	2.365	6.129		
ART Initiation						
Early initiation	0.388	0.000	0.235	0.639		
Age group						
[0-2) years	1.657	0.000	1.283	2.139		
Facility ownership						
Mission	1.348	0.022	1.045	1.739		
Nutritional status						
Normal limits	0.162	0.000	0.103	0.255		
Mild malnutrition	0.406	0.002	0.231	0.714		
Moderate malnutrition	0.353	0.000	0.233	0.533		
WHO Clinical stage						
WHO II	0.613	0.018	0.409	0.919		
WHO IV	1.732	0.001	1.255	2.389		
Caregiver relationship						
Grand mother	0.599	0.037	0.369	0.971		

 Table 1: Cox regression -Breslow method for ties presenting HRs by predictors for children initiated on

 ART between 2004 and 2008 in Swaziland

The partial log likelihood ratio test, as presented in the output of the model, suggests that at least one of the covariates fitted in the final model (Table 1) was significantly (LR chi2 (10) = 228.94, p =0.000) related to survival time for children on ART. The estimated hazard ratio of death for children who were early initiated on ART relative to those who were delayed ART is 0.39 (95% CI: 0.23-0.64). This hazard ratio (0.39) suggests that children who were early initiated on ART, while holding all other predictors constant, were dying at a rate that was estimated to be 61% lower than children who were delayed ART (p=0.001). Children who were diagnosed with TB at baseline, all other variables hold constant, were estimated to have 3.81 (95% CI: 2.36-6.13) times higher hazard of death than those who were TB negative. Children [0-2 years) had 66% higher hazard of death (HR: 1.66 [95% CI: 1.28- 2.14], p<0.001) than children within the age group of [5-15) years. Children who were nourished had 84% lower hazard of death than severe malnourished children (HR: 0.16[95% CI: 0.10-0.26], p<0.001).



## Post estimation for the Cox PH Model

We examined whether the proportional-hazards assumption holds for the model with covariates. We performed **estat phtest** for both individual covariates and globally. The **estat phtest** tested the proportional-hazards assumption on the basis of both scaled and non-scaled Schoenfeld residuals after fitting the model.

	rho	chi2	df	Prob>chi2
ТВ	0.00126	0.00	1	0.9833
EarlyInt	-0.01474	0.06	1	0.8064
agegrpl	-0.26500	19.00	1	0.0000
FOwner3	0.04771	0.61	1	0.4332
Bnutril	0.05434	0.79	1	0.3755
Bnutri2	-0.03660	0.37	1	0.5404
Bnutri3	0.07677	1.54	1	0.2146
Bwho2	0.21550	12.51	1	0.0004
Bwho4	0.06487	1.18	1	0.2770
Caregiver_~3	0.19899	11.05	1	0.0009
global test		50.91	10	0.0000

## Table 2: Test of proportional-hazards assumption as post estimation for Cox PH Model

**Table 2** presents results of the estat phtest. As presented in the table the covariates TB positive (1= Yes, 0=No), Early initiation, Facility ownership (mission), Nutritional status (Normal limits, Mild malnutrition, Moderate malnutrition) and WHO clinical stage 4 did not violate the proportional-hazard assumption. These covariates fitted appropriately in the model; hence the hazard ratios describing the effect of these independent variables were appropriate. The model fitted well and adequately for the aforementioned covariates. However, the hazard ratios describing the effect of age group [0-2) years, caregiver relationship and WHO clinical stage two, were inappropriate.



#### Discussion

In this study, the clinical outcomes for HIV-infected children (n=4170) who were enrolled in the National ART program were found to be desirable. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed to test the significance of immunological gain and it was found to be statistically significant. This may be explained by that initiating HIV infected children on effective ART and management of HIV related opportunistic infections drastically reduces disease progression, in turn enhancing immunological response. Similar clinical outcomes were reported in a retrospective cohort study conducted in South Africa, where HIV infected children were initiated on ART and followed up for only 12 months.<sup>13</sup> Nacro et al conducted a similar study in Burkina Faso and found that children had desirable clinical outcomes (mean CD4 % gain of 24%) at 12 months follow up. <sup>14</sup> Resino et al also reported similar findings in a study where they used both CD4 and Viral load to measure clinical outcomes for 253 vertically infected children. The researchers found that desirable clinical outcomes were associated with increased survival of HIV infected children. <sup>15</sup> In addition, Sauvageot et al analysed surveillance data for 3936 children < 5 years of age initiated on ART in 48 HIV and AIDS programs in Africa and Asia. The researchers observed similar encouraging clinical outcomes in such resource-limited settings. <sup>16</sup>The RCT (CHER) conducted by Cotton at al found that infants (median age=7.4 months) with early-time limited ART had better clinical and immunological outcomes compared to infants whose ART was deferred. 17

Unlike in our study where clinical outcomes were measured in health facility settings, Ferris et al conducted a retrospective study in Romania to investigate effect of institutionalization on clinical outcome (CD4 decline) and death in a cohort of HIV infected children on antiretroviral therapy (ART). The researchers found significant difference in CD4 improvement between the two groups. They observed a trend toward

#### © University of Pretoria



CD4 decline among children who were staying with their biological families. Children who were living with their biological families were more likely to die than were children in institutional care. <sup>18</sup> Unlike the aforementioned studies, we analysed data for 4170 HIV infected children (<15 years) who were initiated on ART and followed up for at least 5 years. We used the immunological response (CD4 % for 0-4 years and CD4 count for 5-14 years) as a primary clinical outcome measure (figure 1).The results of our study and those of others are in agreement that if HIV infected children are administered with ART and managed appropriately by trained health care workers will have desirable clinical outcomes.

Data was further analysed to determine the effect of early ART initiation on survival of HIV-infected children < 15 years of age. Survival rate for children who were early initiated on ART was higher compared to those who were delayed ART. The hazard of dying among children who were early initiated on ART was 61% lower than the hazard of death for children who were delayed ART, and the difference was statistically significant. The findings may be explained by that early initiation of ART shortly after HIV infection limits both the reservoir of persistent HIV and viral diversity, in turn enhancing immunological response.<sup>19, 20</sup> Our findings are consistent with a meta-analysis of 18 cohort studies conducted by the When to Start Consortium. The Consortium found that early initiation of ART was associated with increased survival rates.<sup>21</sup> Our findings are, however, inconsistent with the Ugandan Cluster Randomized Trial of 300 HIV infected children (1-12 years], which revealed that survival and growth of children who were early initiated (CD4%>15) on ART compared to those who were delayed (CD4%<15) ART was not different.<sup>22</sup> Similarly, a prospective study conducted by the IeDEA Southern African Network in Uganda revealed that early initiation on ART had poor survival benefits among children [2-5 years).<sup>23</sup> The indifference in survival for children who were early initiated on ART compared to those who were delayed ART in the Ugandan CRT could be explained by the



use of lower CD4 threshold (CD4% >15) instead of CD4 %  $\geq$ 25%, as suggested by the revised 2010 WHO guidelines for ART for HIV infected children.<sup>6</sup>

A further adjustment of survival by age group revealed that children within the age group of [0-2) years had 66% higher hazard of death than children within the age group of [5-15) years and the findings were statistically significant (p<0.001). These findings may be explained by impaired or depleted immune system among the younger age group, hence failure to suppress disease progression. The findings could also suggest poor adherence among the younger age group due to unavailability of formulations that are of good taste, palatable and liquids. The difficulty of administration of therapy among this age group could also be an explanation of the foregoing findings.

In the current study, we also adjusted survival functions by specific ART regimen. We found that children who were on D4T+3TC+EFV (HR: 1.14[95% CI: 0.74-1.78], p=0.685) and AZT+3TC+EFV (HR: 1.08 [95% CI: 0.74-1.59], p=0.540) had survival probability that was constantly lower overtime than those who were on ABC+3TC+EFV, although, the results were not statistically significant using the significance level of 0.10. ART regimen, as a predictor, was therefore omitted from the final model. The findings may be explained by that the ABC+3TC+EFV regimen is a combination of effective NRTIs and NNRTI for HIV infected infants and children. Abacavir (ABC) and Lamivudine (3TC), in particular, are effective NRTIs with an excellent record of efficacy, safety and tolerability in HIV infected children, and are highly recommended by WHO. <sup>6, 24</sup> Our findings are, however, inconsistent with a multicentre (67 centres) Randomized Control Trial (RCT) conducted by Lennox at al in 5 continents. The researchers found that patients who were initiated on efavirenz experienced more drug-related adverse events than those who were initiated on raltegravir. According to Lennox et al, raltegravir proved to be safer and quite efficacious when compared to efavirenz.

#### © University of Pretoria



<sup>25</sup>. Janssens et al, on the other hand, conducted a study in Cambodia where they analysed clinical outcomes for 212 children (<13 years) and found undesirable clinical outcomes (detectable viral load) among children. Such poor clinical outcomes were associated with resistance to lamivudine. <sup>26</sup> A prospective cohort study conducted in the United States of America (USA) between 1993 and 2007 found that ART regimens were associated with decrease in the incidence of HIV encephalopathy, and the risk of death was found to be lower among children who were taking CNS-penetrating ART regimens than children who were not on CNSpenetrating ART regimens. <sup>27</sup>

In this study, we also examined possible association of baseline WHO clinical staging with survival of HIV infected children initiated on ART. Our findings demonstrate that children who were classified WHO clinical stage IV at baseline had low survival probability compared to children who were classified stage I at baseline (p<0.001). Our findings are consistent with a prospective cohort study conducted in Kenya, which also proved that WHO stage 4 was a predictor of mortality among HIV-infected 135 children.<sup>28</sup>

We also examined the hazard of death as adjusted by level of health system at which children were receiving ART services. We found that children who were receiving ART in mission health facilities had 35% higher hazard of death than children who were receiving their ARV treatment and care in government facilities. The increase in hazard for children who were receiving their ART in missionary facilities could be as high as 74%% or as low as 5 % with 95% confidence. Unlike our study, Moore et al conducted a study in Zambia where they analysed clinical outcomes for children on ART and adjusted by health system level. The researchers found that clinical outcomes for children receiving ART in Primary Health Care settings were found to be desirable.<sup>29</sup>



Nutritional status was also analysed as a predictor in this study. Children who were nourished had increased survival and compared to children who were severely malnourished, and the results were statistically significant (p<0.001) in a multivariate analysis. The findings may be explained by that HIV-infected children who are significantly underweight are much more likely to die than HIV-infected children who nourished. <sup>30</sup> Our findings are consistent with Niekerk et al's findings where nourished HIV-infected children were found to have significantly increased survival. <sup>31</sup>

In a multivariate analysis, we further analyse the hazard of HIV-infected children adjusted by baseline TB status (positive or negative). The findings demonstrate that children who were co-infected with TB and HIV had lower survival rate compared to HIV-infected who were TB negative. Our findings could be explained by that HIV infected children who develop active TB have impaired cell-mediated immunity through depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes; hence their probability of survival will be lower compared to TB negative HIV-infected children. <sup>32, 33</sup>

Caregiver relationship was also included as a predictor variable for survival in the multivariate Cox PH regression analysis. We adjusted caregiver relationship by biological mother, father, aunt, and grandmother. Living with grandmother was found to be positively associated with increased survival, and the results were statistically significant (HR: 0.60 [95% CI: 0.37-. 0.97], p=0.04). In fact, children who were receiving maternal care and treatment support from grandmothers had 40% lower hazard of death compared to children whose caregivers were biological mothers. This could be explained by that the biological mothers were too sick and weak to take good care of their HIV-infected children. This may also be explained by that the young HIV infected mothers were inexperienced in taking care of their children.

#### © University of Pretoria



However the foregoing findings warrant further investigation on possible reasons for grandmothers being

good maternal caregivers.



#### **Conclusion and recommendations**

In conclusion, while ART paediatric services demonstrate to be effective in producing desired clinical outcomes for HIV-infected children, in general and increased survival probability for HIV infected children who were early initiated on ART, active TB, malnutrition, and delayed ART initiation remain predictors of poor survival among HIV-infected children in resource limited settings. Our findings are consistent with previous studies and are reinforcing operationalization of 2013 WHO treatment guidelines, which provides for early initiation for all HIV-infected children (<5 years), irrespective of their WHO clinical stage and CD4 count. <sup>34</sup> It is, therefore, against the foregoing findings that the following relevant recommendations are deduced.

- Continue to measure DC4 prior to initiation of ART, and conduct CD4 monitoring to measure immunological again among HIV-infected children in resource-limited settings;
- Accelerate efforts targeted to early infant diagnosis interventions to ensure diagnosis of infants in their first year of life, and early initiation on ART regardless of their clinical classification and CD4 cell count;
- Adopt and operationalise the 2013 WHO guidelines on early initiation of HIV-infected children (5-14 years);
- Ensure screening, early diagnosis and treatment of active TB among HIV infected children, and start ART as soon as possible afterwards to ensure quick recovery of depleted immunity in order to enhance immunological response and survival of HIV infected children;
- Intensify nutrition interventions and ensure proper integration and alignment with paediatric HIV and AIDS care, treatment and support services; and



• Conduct further investigation on facility ownership and caregiver relationship as predictors for

survival of HIV-infected children.



#### References

- WHO. Treatment of children living with HIV [home page on the internet]. C 2013 [updated 2013 Jun 30; cited 2013 Sept 14]. Available from <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/paediatric/en/index.html</u>
- UNAIDS. UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013. Geneva. WHO Library Cataloguing in Publication Data; 2013.
- Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV infected mother in Africa: a pooled analysis. Lancet.2004; 364 (9441): 1236-1243.
- UNAIDS. UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2012. Geneva. WHO Library Cataloguing in Publication Data; 2012.
- 5. UNAIDS, MOH and NERCHA. Swaziland HIV estimates and Projections report. Mbabane: UNAIDS; 2010
- WHO. Antiretroviral Therapy for HIV infection in infants and children: Towards universal access. Geneva: WHO Press; 2010.
- World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Humana Subjects [home page on the internet]. C 2013 [updated 2013 Oct 22; cited 2014 Mar 20]. Available from <a href="http://jama.jamanetwork.com/">http://jama.jamanetwork.com/</a> on 10/22/2013
- 8. Pagano M, Gauvreau K. Principles of biostatistics. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Belmont: Brooks/Cole; 2000.
- Collett D. Modelling survival data in medical research. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Florida, United States of America: CRC Press LLC; 2003.
- 10. Williams R. Multicollinearity. [home page on the internet]. C 2014 [updated 2013 Mar 25; cited 2014 June 5] <a href="https://www3.nd.edu/~rwilliam/stats2/l11.pdf">https://www3.nd.edu/~rwilliam/stats2/l11.pdf</a>



11. Rovny J. Multicollinearity and Heteroscedasticity. [home page on the internet]. C 2014 [updated 2014 Apr25; cited 2014 May 8

]http://www.rovny.org/Site/Applied\_Methods\_files/10.Multicollinearity&Het.pdf

- 12. Klein JP, Moeschberger ML. Survival Analysis Technique for Censored and Truncated data. 1st Ed. New York, United States of America: Spinger-Verlag New York, Inc; 1997.
- Reddi A, Leeper C, Grobler AC, Geddes R, France HK, Dorse GL. Preliminary outcomes of a paediatric highly active antiretroviral therapy cohort from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. BMC Pediatrics. 2007; 7(13):1-13.
- 14. Nacro B, Zoure E, Hien H, Tamboura H, Rouet F, Ouiminga A. Pharmacology and immuno-virologic efficacy of once-a-day HAART in African HIV-infected children: ANRS 12103 phase II trial. Bull World Health Organ. 2011; 89(6):451-458.
- 15. Resino S, Bellón JM, Gurbindo D, Ramos JT, León JA, Muñoz-Fernández MA. Responses to antiretroviral treatments in vertically HIV-1-infected children. Med Clin (Barc). 2002; 119(19):725-729.
- Sauvageot D, Schaefer M, Olson David, Pujades-Rodriguez M, O'Brien D P. Antiretroviral therapy outcomes in resource-limited settings for HIV-infected children <5 years of age. Pediatrics. 2010; 125 (5): 1039-1047.</li>
- 17. Cotton F, Violari A, Otwombe K, Panchia R, Dobbels E, Rabie H. Early time-limited antiretroviral therapy versus deferred therapy in South African infants infected with HIV:results from the children with HIV early antiretroviral (CHER) randomizedtrial. Lancet.2013; 382(9904):1555-1563.
- Ferris M, Burau K, Constantin AM, Mihale S, Murray N, Preda A. Influence of Institutionalization on Time to HIV Disease Progression in a Cohort of Romanian Children and Teens. Pediatrics.2007; 120(6):1476-1480.



- Persaud D, Gay H, Ziemniak C F. Functional HIV cure after very early ART of an infected infant, 20<sup>th</sup>
   Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; Antlanta, GA, USA: March 3-6, 2013. Abstract
   48LB.
- 20. Sáez-Cirión A, Bacchus C, Hocqueloux L, Avettand-Fenoel V, Girault I, Lecuroux C; and the ANRS VISCONTI Study Group. Post-treatment HIV-1 controllers with long-term virological remission after the interruption of early initiated antiretroviral therapy ANRS VISCONTI Study. PloS Pathogens. 2013; 9 (3): 1-12.
- Sterne AJ, May M, Costagliola D, De Wolf F, Phillips AN, Harris R. Timing of initiation of antiretroviral therapy in AIDS-free HIV-1-infected patients: a collaborative analysis of 18 HIV cohort studies. Lancet. 2009; 373(9672):1352-1363.
- 22. Jaffar S , Amuron B, Foster S, Birungi J, Levin J, Namara G. Rates of virological failure in patients treated in a home-based versus a facility-based HIV-care model in Jinja, southeast Uganda: a cluster-randomized equivalence trial. Lancet.2009; 374 (9707):2080–2089.
- Kipp W , Konde-Lule J, Saunders LD, Alibhai A, Houston S, Rubaale T. Results of a community-based antiretroviral treatment program for HIV-1 infection in western Uganda. Current HIV Research, 2010, 8:179–185.
- Green H, Gibb DM, Walker AS, Pillay D, Butler K, Candeias F. Lamivudine/abacavir maintains virological superiority over zidovudine/lamivudine and zidovudine/abacavir beyond 5 years in children. AIDS, 2007; 21 (8): 947-955.
- 25. Lennox JL, DeJesus E, Lazzarin A, Pollard RB, Madruga JV, Berger DS. Safety and efficacy of raltegravirbased versus efavirenz-based combination therapy in treatment-naive patients with HIV-1 infection: a multicentre, double-blind randomized controlled trial. Lancet 2009; 374(9692):796-806.



- 26. Janssens B, Raleigh B, Soeung S, Akao K, Te V, Gupta J et al. Effectiveness of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in HIV-Positive Children: Evaluation at 12 months in a Routine Program in Cambodia. Pediatrics 2007 Nov 1; 120(5): 1134-1140.
- 27. Patel K, Ming X, Williams PL, Robertson KR, Oleske JM, Seage III GR. Impact of HAART and CNSpenetrating antiretroviral regimens on HIV encephalopathy among perinatally infected children and adolescents. AIDS 2010; 23(14):1893-1901.
- 28. Wamalwa CD, Obimbo E, Farquhar C, Richardson AB, Mbori-Ngacha A, Inwani I. Predictors of mortality in HIV-1 infected children on antiretroviral therapy in Kenya: a prospective cohort. BMC Pediatrics 2010; 10(13):2-8.
- 29. Moore BC, Mbewe MM, Cantrell A R, Chintu N, Stringer E M, Chi B H et al. Clinical Outcomes and CD4 Cell Response in Children Receiving Antiretroviral Therapy at Primary Health Care Facilities in Zambia. JAMA 2007; 298 (16): 1888-1899.
- 30. Callens F S , Shabani N, Lusiama J, Lelo P, Kitetele F, Colebunders R. Mortality and associated factors after initiation of pediatric antiretroviral treatment in the democratic republic of congo. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 2009. 28 (1): 35-40.
- 31. Niekerk N K M, Knies M M, Howard J, Rabie H, Zeier M, Van Rensburg A. The First 5 Years of the Family Clinic for HIV at Tygerberg Hospital: Family Demaographics, Survival of Children and Early Impact of Antiretroviral Therapy. Jour of Trop Ped; 52(1): 3-11.
- 32. Delay CL, Small PM, Schecter GF, Schoolnik GK, McAdam RA, Jacobs WR. An outbreak of tuberculosis with accelerated progression among persons infected with human immunodeficiency virus: an analysis using restriction-fragment-length polymorphisms. N Engl J Med 1992;326 (4): 231-5
- 33. Selwyn PA, Hartel D, Lewis VA, Schoenbaum EE, Vermund SH, Klein RS. A prospective study of the risk of tuberculosis among intravenous drug users with HIV infection. N Engl J Med 1989; 320 (9): 545-50.



- 34. WHO. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. Geneva: WHO Press; 2013.
- 35. Shah C. Adherence to High Activity Anti-retroviral Therapy (HAART) in Pediatric Patients infected with HIV: Issues and Interventions. Indian J Pediatr 2007;74(1):55-60
- 36. Giacomet V, Albano F, Starace F, de Franciscis A, Giaquinto C, CastelliGattinara G. Adherence to antiretroviral therapy and its determinants in children with human immunodeficiency virus infection: a multicentre, national study. ACTA PÆDIATR 2003; 92(12):1398-1402.



## Acknowledgements

The Authors would like to thank the Ministry of Health in Swaziland for authorizing access and utilization of electronic medical records in this study. Our sincere gratitude goes to Professor Kuku Voyi, Professor Cheryl McCrindle and Professor Halina Rollin from the School of Health Systems and Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences in University of Pretoria for providing technical assistance in writing up the article and providing well deserved constructive suggestions.